Abstract

Title: "Experiences, challenges, and contributions of business analytics workers in the adoption and effective utilization of business analytics in European startups and enterprises."

Author: Fedor Zakharov

This dissertation explores the pivotal role of business analytics (BA) professionals within the vibrant ecosystems of European startups and enterprises, focusing on their contributions to organizational performance, the challenges they encounter, and the skills necessary for effective performance in this rapidly evolving domain. As digital transformation reshapes the business landscape, the strategic deployment of BA has become essential for driving innovation, efficiency, and competitive advantage. This study addresses a significant gap in existing literature by providing an in-depth exploration of the practical experiences and impacts of BA workers in real-world settings, particularly within the European context.

The research employs a qualitative methodology, utilizing semi-structured interviews to gather rich insights into the roles, challenges, and contributions of BA professionals. This approach facilitates a nuanced understanding of how these workers influence strategic decision-making and operational processes within their organizations.

Findings from this study reveal that BA professionals play a critical role in enhancing decision-making quality, fostering a data-driven culture, and promoting innovation through the strategic use of data. However, they also face numerous challenges, including rapid technological changes, the integration of complex data systems, and the need for continuous skill development.

The contributions of this research are twofold: it enriches academic discourse by detailing the specific roles and challenges of BA professionals in a key geographical area, and it offers practical implications by identifying essential skills and strategic approaches that can enhance the effectiveness of BA initiatives. This work underscores the importance of aligning BA strategies with broader business objectives and cultivating a supportive culture for data-driven innovation.

Submission of Thesis and Dissertation

National College of Ireland

Research Students Declaration Form

(Thesis/Author Declaration Form)

Name: <u>Fedor Zakharov</u>

Student Number: <u>22189424</u>

Degree for which thesis is submitted: <u>Master of Science in International Business</u>

Material submitted for award

(a) I declare that the work has been composed by myself.

(b) I declare that all verbatim extracts contained in the thesis have been distinguished by quotation marks and the sources of information specifically acknowledged.

(c) My thesis will be included in electronic format in the College Institutional Repository NORMA (thesis reports and projects).

(d) *Either* *I declare that no material contained in the thesis has been used in any other submission for an academic award.

Or *I declare that the following material contained in the thesis formed part of a submission for the award of

MSc in International Business Awarded by QQI

Signature of research student: Fedor Zakharov

Date: <u>04.05.2024</u>

Submission of Thesis to Norma Smurfit Library, National College of Ireland

Student name: Fedor Zakharov	_Student number: <u>22189424</u>	
School: School of Business	Course: MSc in International Business	
Degree to be awarded: Master of Science in	International Business	
Title of Thesis, Functioness, shallowers, and see		
Title of Thesis: Experiences, challenges, and contributions of business analytics workers in the adoption and effective utilization of business analytics in European startups and enterprises.		
adoption and effective utilization of business of	marytics in European startups and enterprises.	
available for consultation. This electronic copy National College of Ireland's Institutional Re	dged in the Norma Smurfit Library and will be y will be accessible in NORMA norma.ncirl.ie the pository. In accordance with normal academic onal College of Ireland Institutional Repository	
•	ng available for consultation within the library. Is being made publicly available on the National DRMA.	
Signature of Candidate: Fedor Zakharov		
For completion by the School:		
The aforementioned thesis was received by		
Date:		
This signed form must be appended to all cop	es of your thesis submitted to your school.	

Contents

Abstract	1
1. Introduction	5
2. Literature review	6
2.1 The role of business analytics workers in the adoption of business analytics	6
2.2 Challenges faced by analytics workers in business analytics	8
2.3 The contribution of business analytics in organizational performance	9
2.4 Skills and training needed in business analytics.	12
3. Research Question	14
3.1 Research Objectives	14
4. Methodology	15
4.1 Data Collection	17
4.2 Data analysis	18
4.2.1 List of questions	18
4.2.2 Thematic map	20
4.3 Data protection	21
4.4 Limitations	21
5. Findings and analysis	22
5.1 The role of business analytics workers in the adoption of business analytics	22
5.1.1 Primary roles and responsibilities of a business analytics worker	22
5.1.2 Evolving of business analytics workers role in the context of the changing landscape of business analytics	23
5.2 Challenges faced by analytics workers in business analytics	25
5.2.1 Most significant challenges business analytics worker face in their work	25
5.3 The contribution of business analytics in organizational performance	27
5.3.1 Examples of business analytics workers impact on the organization	27
5.4 Skills and training needed in business analytics.	29
5.4.1 Most critical skills for business analytics workers	29
5.4.2 Organization support in ongoing learning and development of business analytics workers	31
5.5 Emerging trends in business analytics	32
6. Discussion	34
7. Conclusion	39
Literature	40

1. Introduction

In the rapidly evolving landscape of digital transformation, business analytics (BA) has emerged as a critical driver of organizational success, especially within the ecosystems of European startups and enterprises. This holds particularly true within the vibrant ecosystems where these analytical practices are pivotal in shaping strategic decision-making and operational efficiency (Wolniak and Grebski, 2023). Acknowledged for its crucial role, business analytics, however, encounters a landscape where its full potential and challenges remain insufficiently charted, especially in the European context. This dissertation sets out to bridge this knowledge gap by offering a thorough examination of the experiences, hurdles, and contributions of business analytics professionals in these dynamic environments. Through an in-depth investigation into their roles, responsibilities, and the influence they wield over decision-making processes, this study aims to illuminate the barriers they encounter and the significance of their contributions. Additionally, it endeavors to pinpoint the requisite skills and training for maximizing their effectiveness, with the goal of advancing organizational performance and strategic agility in Europe's competitive business milieu.

The necessity for this research is underscored by a review of existing literature, which reveals a conspicuous absence of comprehensive studies specifically addressing the nuances of business analytics within European startups and enterprises (Yin and Fernandez, 2020). Despite the universal acknowledgement of its value in bolstering organizational efficiency and competitive edge, the literature shows a lacuna in understanding the unique contributions, challenges, and requirements of these professionals in the European setting (Hindle et al., 2020). Prior research has predominantly focused on technical aspects and theoretical applications of business analytics, leaving a void around the practical experiences and impacts of these practitioners in real-world settings(Yin and Fernandez, 2020). This dissertation aims to fill this void by offering rich insights into the daily realities of business analytics workers, thereby providing a nuanced perspective on how to enhance their influence and effectiveness in navigating the complexities of the digital economy.

By situating this investigation within the existing body of scholarly work and drawing on key theoretical and empirical studies in the field, this research seeks to contribute significantly to both the academic and industrial understanding of business analytics in European contexts. It explicitly addresses the identified research gaps by focusing on the underexplored areas of professional practice, challenges, and contribution to organizational success in European startups and enterprises. The implications of this thesis are far-reaching, offering potential pathways for

enhancing the strategic role of business analytics in driving innovation, efficiency, and competitive advantage (Duan et al., 2020). Through this exploration, the dissertation not only aims to enrich the academic discourse but also to provide actionable insights for industry practitioners, thereby underlining the importance of this research within the broader narrative of digital transformation in Europe.

This dissertation is structured as follows. Chapter 2 reviews the relevant literature, highlighting key themes and gaps. Chapter 4 outlines the research methodology employed in this study. Chapter 5 presents the findings, while Chapter 6 discusses their implications. Finally, Chapter 7 concludes the dissertation, summarizing key insights and suggesting future research directions.

2. Literature review

2.1 The role of business analytics workers in the adoption of business analytics.

The advent of business analytics has revolutionized decision-making processes within startups and enterprises alike, particularly in the European context. This evolution underscores a strategic pivot towards data-driven methodologies, where the roles and responsibilities of business analytics workers have become central to organizational success.

Business analytics workers in European startups and enterprises are tasked with an array of responsibilities that span beyond traditional data analysis. Bhaumik et al. elucidate the integration of business intelligence (BI) and analytics to support decision-making frameworks, emphasizing the necessity for analytical skills that blend operational data with analytical tools (Bhaumik et al., 2022). This synergy is vital in enhancing decision-making quality and timeliness, pointing towards a critical responsibility of analytics workers in ensuring the accessibility and usability of complex business information. The same position by Wullianallur Raghupathi and Viju Raghupathi emphasize the critical role of BA workers in leveraging Business Intelligence (BI) and analytics tools for strategic decision-making (Raghupathi and Raghupathi, 2021). They underline the importance of continuous learning and adaptation, suggesting a strong relationship in their acknowledgment of the evolving landscape of business analytics and the indispensable role of BA workers in this domain.

Echoing this sentiment, Božič and Dimovski highlight the importance of absorptive capacity in transforming business intelligence and analytics insights into actionable knowledge (Božič and Dimovski, 2019). Here, the responsibility extends towards fostering an environment conducive to innovation and competitive advantage through effective data assimilation and exploitation.

Also, the connection between BA and innovations is noticed by researchers. They came to the conclusion that business analytics workers play a pivotal role within the BA ecosystem, contributing significantly to the analytics process. Their contributions are crucial for enhancing environmental scanning and fostering a data-driven culture, which are essential for driving innovation. Workers' engagement in BA practices facilitates the assimilation and application of new external information, leveraging it for commercial ends and innovation (Duan et al., 2020; Kristoffersen et al., 2021). This delineation of roles signifies a broader implication on business strategy formulation and operational efficiency, marking a shift towards predictive analytics and future-oriented business planning (Lee et al., 2022).

Moreover, the works of Chahal, Jyoti, and Wirtz underscore the diverse applications of business analytics across functional domains such as finance, marketing, and human resources (Chahal et al., 2019). The responsibility of analytics workers thus encompasses the identification and prediction of market trends, optimization of business processes, and enhancement of customer engagement strategies. This multifaceted role emphasizes the necessity for a blend of technical and analytical skills, coupled with an in-depth understanding of business operations and strategic objectives.

Furthermore, as it was mentioned above, some authors discuss the direct and indirect impacts of business analytics on innovation, highlighting the role of analytics workers in environmental scanning and fostering a data-driven culture (Duan et al., 2020). This underlines the evolving responsibilities of these professionals in not only generating insights but also in shaping organizational cultures that prioritize data-informed decision-making.

The insights from Ferreira et al. introduce the application of Industry 4.0 technologies, delineating the roles of analytics workers in leveraging artificial intelligence, cloud computing, and big data analytics for environmental and social sustainability within manufacturing enterprises (Ferreira et al., 2023). Also researches show that workers in business analytics are central to implementing and maximizing the benefits of BA in Industry 4.0. They are responsible for analyzing data, applying insights to strategic decisions, and ensuring the alignment of BA initiatives with organizational goals (Wolniak and Grebski, 2023; Yalcin et al., 2022). Their contributions are crucial for predictive maintenance, optimizing supply chains, enhancing quality control, and driving innovation, directly impacting business outcomes and operational efficiency. This perspectives broadens the scope of business analytics, positioning these workers at the intersection of technological innovation and sustainable business practices.

In synthesizing these insights, the literature reveals a pivotal role and responsibilities of business analytics workers. From enhancing decision-making processes and fostering innovation to driving organizational efficiency and sustainability, these professionals play a pivotal role in navigating the complexities of the modern business environment. The strategic application of business analytics, underscored by a blend of technical proficiency and business acumen, emerges as a fundamental pillar in achieving competitive advantage and sustainable growth.

2.2 Challenges faced by analytics workers in business analytics.

The proliferation of business analytics across various industries has illuminated a spectrum of challenges faced by analytics workers.

Technological advancements represent a double-edged sword, offering powerful tools for data analysis while simultaneously posing significant challenges due to rapid evolution and complexity. Data quality and management are at the forefront, with analytics workers grappling with integrating disparate data sources, maintaining data integrity, and ensuring privacy (Liu et al., 2023). Including the rapid pace of technological advancement, integration complexities of analytics into organizational processes, and the necessity for a cultural shift towards data-driven decision-making (Yin and Fernandez, 2020). Moreover, the selection of appropriate analytics tools and platforms necessitates a balancing act between functionality, scalability, and ease of use (Raghupathi and Raghupathi, 2021). These technological hurdles are compounded by the need for real-time data processing capabilities, further straining the resources and adaptability of analytics teams.

The dynamic nature of business analytics demands a workforce equipped with a blend of technical, analytical, and soft skills. However, a pronounced skills gap has been identified, stemming from both the rapid pace of technological change and the evolving demands of the analytics roles (Raghupathi and Raghupathi, 2021). This gap is not solely confined to technical competencies but extends to soft skills crucial for effective communication, problem-solving, and team collaboration (Seal et al., 2020). Overemphasis on traditional analytics topics in academic curricula, which may not align with current industry demands. Educational institutions are thus challenged to bridge this divide through curriculum updates and practical training initiatives (Johnson et al., 2020; Seal et al., 2020; Yin and Fernandez, 2020)

The successful integration of analytics into organizational processes is often hindered by cultural resistance and a lack of alignment with business strategy (Polzer, 2022). Despite the clear advantages of a data-driven approach, skepticism and inertia can stymie analytics initiatives,

underscoring the necessity for a cultural shift towards embracing data-driven decision-making. Furthermore, the alignment of analytics projects with overarching business objectives remains a persistent challenge, necessitating a strategic approach to analytics integration (Hindle et al., 2020)

As the reliance on data analytics intensifies, so too do concerns surrounding data privacy, security, and ethical use. Navigating complex regulatory landscapes and establishing robust data governance frameworks are imperative for maintaining trust and compliance (Seal et al., 2020). Additionally, the potential for bias in data and analytical models poses ethical dilemmas, requiring diligent oversight and mitigation efforts to ensure fairness and responsible analytics practice (Raghupathi and Raghupathi, 2021).

Silaban explores the challenges of BA implementation using the Technology-Organization-Environment (TOE) framework, highlighting the technological, organizational, and environmental hurdles encountered by firms. This comprehensive review emphasizes the criticality of overcoming these challenges to fully leverage BA for strategic business value. BA workers play a vital role in this ecosystem, necessitating a blend of technical, analytical, and business process understanding. The study suggests future research delve into industry-specific BA challenges, evolving skill requirements, and strategies for fostering a data-driven culture (Silaban, 2022).

These studies paint a detailed picture of the landscape of BA implementation, emphasizing the need for organizations to navigate the technological, organizational, and environmental challenges effectively. The critical role of BA workers in this process is highlighted across the studies, pointing to the necessity of developing a comprehensive skill set that includes technical proficiency, analytical acumen, and business insight. Future research directions suggested include exploring industry-specific challenges and solutions, the evolving skill requirements, and effective strategies for fostering a data-driven culture within organizations. These insights provide valuable guidance for organizations seeking to leverage BA for enhanced decision-making, innovation, and strategic advantage.

2.3 The contribution of business analytics in organizational performance

The integration of business analytics (BA) into organizational processes has significantly transformed decision-making landscapes, offering profound insights into operational efficiencies and strategic directions.

Business analytics professionals employ advanced analytical tools and methodologies to facilitate data-driven decision-making, enhancing strategic clarity and operational efficiency. The utilization of Business Intelligence (BI) systems underscores the pivotal role of analytics in streamlining decision-making processes by integrating operational data with analytical insights(Bhaumik et al., 2022). This strategic application aids organizations in navigating the complexities of competitive landscapes, fostering a data-informed culture that enhances decision-making timeliness and quality.

The work of business analytics professionals significantly contributes to organizational innovation and the attainment of a competitive edge. Božič and Dimovski illustrate how the transformation of BI&A insights into actionable knowledge, facilitated by absorptive capacity capabilities, propels firm innovation and performance (Božič and Dimovski, 2019). This transformative capability underscores the importance of not only harnessing data but also effectively interpreting and applying it to drive innovation and maintain competitive advantage.

Duan, Cao, and Edwards' study delves into the relationship between BA and innovation, utilizing absorptive capacity theory to demonstrate how BA enhances environmental scanning, fosters a data-driven culture, and, consequently, improves innovation. The research highlights the critical role of workers in the BA process, emphasizing that their engagement in environmental scanning and fostering a data-driven culture are paramount for driving innovation. Challenges such as adapting to a data-driven culture and effectively using BA for environmental scanning are identified, underscoring the need for continuous learning and the development of skills in data analysis, BA tools, and technologies. The study suggests that equipping BA workers with these competencies can mitigate challenges and significantly enhance innovation, providing empirical evidence through a questionnaire survey among UK businesses (Duan et al., 2020). Analyticsdriven insights contribute significantly to operational efficiencies, customer satisfaction, and ultimately, organizational growth. The synthesis of data from varied sources, coupled with advanced analytical tools, enables organizations to identify market trends, optimize business processes, and enhance customer engagement strategies. This operational insight directly impacts organizational growth, adaptability, and the ability to seize growth opportunities in a dynamic business environment.

Polzer examines the burgeoning field of people analytics, propelled by the fusion of digital data generation and analytic techniques. This integration offers unprecedented opportunities for analyzing human behavior at work, influencing employee experiences, decision-making processes, and organizational functions. The article underscores the transformation organizations

undergo with technology adoption, highlighting the pivotal role of BA workers in generating data and being the subjects of analytics practices. It discusses the challenges involved in integrating algorithmic decision-making processes within organizations, including issues of bias, ethical dilemmas surrounding privacy, and the implications for organizational dynamics. The necessity of developing a diverse set of skills among business analysts, including data literacy, ethical judgment, and adaptability, is emphasized to navigate these challenges effectively. Polzer advocates for bridging the gap between organizational research and computational social science to leverage data-driven insights more effectively (Polzer, 2022).

Articles underline the transformative potential of BA in enhancing organizational performance and innovation. They emphasize the critical role of workers in this process, highlighting the need for skill development and adaptation to a data-driven culture. Moreover, the challenges identified call for a nuanced approach to integrating BA practices within organizations, considering ethical, privacy, and bias implications. Future research directions include exploring the longitudinal impact of BA on innovation, the role of specific BA technologies and tools, and the ethical considerations of employee monitoring and algorithmic decision-making.

The effectiveness of business analytics is contingent upon the regulatory environment, market conditions, and the competitive landscape. A supportive business environment, both locally and globally, is critical for the successful application of BI tools and strategies. Regulatory reforms and ease of doing business impact the operational context within which analytics professionals work, emphasizing the importance of adaptability and strategic alignment with broader business objectives (Liu et al., 2023).

Another important topic is integration of business analytics (BA) within Industry 4.0 is a pivotal aspect of modern manufacturing, significantly influencing operational efficiency, sustainability, and competitive advantage.

Ferreira et al. (2023) explore the impact of digital technologies on promoting sustainability within European MNEs. They highlight the strategic importance of these technologies in achieving environmental and social sustainability, underscoring the role of digital transition in greener manufacturing practices. The research demonstrates that while the level of digital technologies implementation remains low, their effective utilization significantly contributes to sustainability goals, offering a strategic pathway for MNEs to prioritize investments. This study enriches the Resource-Based View (RBV) by positioning digital technology as a strategic resource essential for sustainable development (Ferreira et al., 2023).

Conversely, Wolniak and Grebski delve into the broad applications of BA in Industry 4.0, emphasizing its crucial role in enhancing operational efficiency, reducing costs, and improving product quality through data-driven decision-making. The paper discusses various applications of BA, including predictive maintenance, supply chain optimization, and quality control, advocating for BA as a strategic necessity in navigating Industry 4.0's complexities. The findings suggest that leveraging BA tools and methodologies is vital for continuous improvement, risk mitigation, and maintaining a competitive edge in an evolving business landscape (Wolniak and Grebski, 2023).

Both studies underscore the importance of workers in the effective implementation of BA, highlighting the need for a blend of technical skills and soft skills, including critical thinking and an understanding of sustainability principles. The challenges identified—such as the complexity of managing vast data volumes and the need for a cultural shift towards sustainability—point to the necessity of strategic alignment and skill development for utilizing digital technologies effectively.

The role of business analytics professionals in augmenting organizational performance is diverse and critical, covering areas such as the enhancement of strategic decision-making, fostering innovation, securing competitive advantages, and achieving operational efficiencies. By strategically employing business intelligence (BI) tools, frameworks, and insights derived from data, these experts empower organizations to adeptly maneuver through the intricacies of contemporary business landscapes. The incorporation of business analytics into organizational practices not only elevates the quality and speed of decision-making but also promotes innovation, enhances operational efficiency, and drives growth. Consequently, business analytics professionals are instrumental in guiding organizations toward a paradigm of data-driven excellence and achieving a lasting competitive edge in an environment increasingly dominated by data.

2.4 Skills and training needed in business analytics.

The accelerating pace of digital transformation underscores the importance of equipping business analytics professionals with a comprehensive skill set that bridges the gap between technical proficiency, analytical acumen, and strategic business insight.

A fundamental requirement for professionals in the field of business analytics is an understanding of technical competencies such as data management, programming languages (such as Python, R, SQL) and proficiency in analytics tools like SAS, SPSS and Hadoop. In addition to expertise individuals need to have the capability to conduct intricate statistical analyses build predictive models and interpret data effectively. This involves utilizing machine learning algorithms and transforming data into valuable insights. (Duan et al., 2020; Ozturk and Hartzel, 2020; Stanton and Stanton, 2020; Verma et al., 2019). These skills enable the handling, processing, and analysis of large datasets, forming the backbone of data-driven decision-making.

Equally critical are the communication and interpersonal skills that allow analytics professionals to convey complex findings in an accessible manner to stakeholders across the organization, thereby facilitating informed decision-making and strategic planning (Bhaumik et al., 2022; Cegielski and Jones-Farmer, 2016; Duan et al., 2020; Ozturk and Hartzel, 2020; Verma et al., 2019).

A strong grasp of the business environment encompassing market trends, regulatory frameworks and strategic operations empowers data analysts to align their insights with company objectives and utilize data for an edge (Božič and Dimovski, 2019).

To develop these competencies, a multidimensional approach to education and training is essential. Formal education programs, both at undergraduate and graduate levels, should offer comprehensive coverage of data science, analytics, and business strategy. Additionally, professional certifications and practical experience through internships or project-based learning are crucial for applying theoretical knowledge in real-world scenarios (Chahal et al., 2019). Continuous professional development, including workshops and online courses, ensures that analytics professionals aware of the latest tools, technologies, and methodologies in this rapidly evolving field (Johnson et al., 2020).

In the domain of business analytics several emerging trends significantly impact the skill sets and educational needs of professionals. The increasing emphasis on intelligence (AI) and machine learning approaches is fueling the need for advanced training, in these areas (Kaushik, 2022). Furthermore, the expanding application of analytics across various business sectors, coupled with the escalating significance of data ethics and privacy, underscores the necessity for comprehensive interdisciplinary education that integrates technical prowess, analytical acumen, and ethical awareness (Stanton and Stanton, 2020).

Despite the extensive array of skills required for business analytics professionals, there are notable gaps in current training programs. Many professionals exhibit strong technical capabilities but lack the business acumen to translate analytics insights into strategic business outcomes. Furthermore, there is a need for enhanced training in data ethics and privacy, reflecting the increasing societal and regulatory focus on responsible data use (Silaban, 2022).

The combination of skills and education among business analytics professionals significantly impacts organizational performance. By blending knowledge analytical depth and business acumen effectively companies can enhance decision making processes drive innovation and maintain a competitive edge in the market. The ability to communicate analytical findings in ways that are actionable and aligned with strategic objectives is crucial, for fostering an organizational culture based on data driven decision making (Srikrishnan, 2020).

The evolving landscape of business analytics requires a well rounded approach to developing skills and learning paths that encompass technical expertise critical thinking, effective communication and a deep understanding of business tactics. It's crucial for professionals in business analytics to identify and address any skill gaps they may have while staying adaptable to emerging trends in order to effectively navigate the complexities of the age. Through training and a commitment to continuous learning individuals working in analytics can significantly boost their impact on their organizations strategic goals and operational flexibility giving them a competitive advantage, in a data driven world.

3. Research Question

What are the experiences, challenges, contributions and skills of business analytics workers in the adoption and effective utilization of business analytics in European startups and enterprises?

3.1 Research Objectives

- 1. **Understand the Role of Business Analytics Workers**: To explore the specific roles and responsibilities of business analytics workers in European startups and enterprises.
- 2. **Identify Challenges Faced by Analytics Workers**: To investigate the unique challenges and obstacles that business analytics workers encounter in their work.
- Assess the Contribution to Organizational Performance: To evaluate how the work of business analytics professionals impacts decision-making processes in these organizations.

4. **Explore Skills and Training Needs**: To identify the skills and training that are most beneficial for business analytics workers to effectively contribute to their organizations.

4. Methodology

This dissertation employs a qualitative research methodology to explore the experiences and perspectives of business analytics professionals within European startups and enterprises. Recognizing the critical role of methodology in research, this section outlines the rationale for selecting semi-structured interviews as the primary data collection tool. Semi-structured interviews are a hybrid approach, balancing the structured nature of predetermined questions with the flexibility of open dialogue. This method is instrumental in uncovering rich, qualitative insights into complex phenomena, making it particularly suited to investigating the nuanced roles, challenges, and contributions of individuals in the fast-evolving field of business analytics.

The semi-structured interview format aligns seamlessly with the research objectives, facilitating an in-depth exploration of participants' perceptions, attitudes, and experiences. This alignment is crucial for probing into the intricacies of business analytics roles, the challenges faced by professionals, and their impact on organizational performance. By allowing participants to express their thoughts freely, this method uncovers insights that might remain hidden in more structured formats, thus directly addressing the research questions.

The inherent flexibility of semi-structured interviews is a significant advantage, offering the researcher the leeway to probe deeper into new themes and insights that emerge during conversations. This flexibility ensures that the research remains open to unexpected findings, enriching the study with dimensions that pre-defined questionnaires or surveys might miss (Božič & Dimovski, 2019).

Compared to other data collection methods, such as structured interviews or surveys, semistructured interviews offer a distinct advantage in eliciting richer, more nuanced responses. They facilitate a conversational depth that can reveal the underlying motivations, beliefs, and contexts influencing participants' answers, providing a more comprehensive understanding of the subject matter.

The methodology of Kristoffersen et al. (2021) exemplifies a similar approach, utilizing semistructured interviews to explore the integration of business analytics into the circular economy. Their research design, informed by the resource-based and resource orchestration views, highlights the strategic selection of interview participants to ensure a comprehensive representation of circular strategies and decision areas. This approach mirrors our study's emphasis on purposeful participant selection and the use of thematic analysis to distill significant patterns and themes from the data, underscoring the value of qualitative exploratory research in uncovering deep insights into complex organizational phenomena.

Božič and Dimovski (2019) effectively utilized semi-structured interviews to delve into the transformative impact of Business Intelligence and Analytics (BI&A) on knowledge creation within organizations. Their methodology, involving in-depth interviews with key organizational figures, underscores the value of this approach in capturing diverse, insightful perspectives on the role of BI&A. Similarly, Ozturk and Hartzel (2020) employed a combination of interviews, surveys, and narrative reviews to gather a multifaceted understanding of Business Analytics (BA) education requirements, demonstrating the method's efficacy in both academic and practical research contexts.

These studies exemplify the semi-structured interview's capacity to generate deep, contextualized insights that quantitative methods might not capture. By drawing on these methodological precedents, this research aligns with established practices, leveraging semi-structured interviews to explore the complex dynamics of business analytics in organizational performance.

Reflecting on the literature, several methodological insights emerge. For instance, the importance of a purposeful selection of participants is highlighted, ensuring a rich diversity of perspectives (Božič & Dimovski, 2019). Additionally, these studies underscore the need for a flexible yet systematic approach to data analysis, such as thematic coding, to distill significant patterns and themes from the data. Addressing potential challenges, such as biases and the generalizability of findings, these works advocate for transparency in methodological choices and reflexivity in analysis.

Alternative research methods considered for this study included surveys and case studies. Surveys offer the potential for broad quantitative insights but may lack the depth required to explore complex phenomena. Case studies provide in-depth analysis but may be less effective for exploring broader trends across multiple organizations.

Building on the methodological framework outlined above, this study conducted semi-structured interviews with a diverse group of business analytics professionals. Employees in the field of business analytics were selected based on work experience, more than 2 years and work in

European companies. The search and selection of candidates took place through LinkedIn and networking. Purposeful sampling was used for a variety of responses. This choice was informed by the need to deeply understand the roles, challenges, and contributions of these individuals within their organizational contexts. To enhance the reliability and depth of the findings, the study employs a rigorous thematic analysis of the interview transcripts, linking emergent themes directly to the research questions. Through this meticulous approach, the research aims to provide comprehensive insights into the impact of business analytics workers on organizational performance, underpinned by a robust qualitative methodology.

4.1 Data Collection

The interview guide was meticulously prepared to ensure alignment with the research objectives serving as the foundational tool for data collection. The construction of the guide involved a comprehensive review of the literature and theoretical frameworks relevant to the study's focus. This ensured that each question was purposefully designed to elicit information pertinent to the research questions.

The guide comprised a mix of structured questions, aimed at gathering specific information directly related to the research objectives, and open-ended questions designed to encourage participants to elaborate on their experiences, perceptions, and opinions. This balance was strategically planned to maximize the richness of the data collected, allowing for both consistency in responses across interviews and the flexibility to explore new insights or themes as they emerged.

During the interviews, the pre-prepared questions were primarily used as a guide; however, additional questions for clarification or further exploration were posed as necessary. This approach allowed for a dynamic interaction between the interviewer and participants, ensuring that the conversation could adapt to the flow of dialogue and the unique perspectives of each interviewee.

All interviews were conducted remotely via online calls, a method chosen for its convenience to participants and efficiency in data collection. This modality also facilitated a wider geographical reach in participant selection, ensuring a diverse range of insights into the research topic. Each interview lasted approximately one hour, a duration considered sufficient to explore the research topics thoroughly without causing fatigue or disengagement.

To establish rapport and create a comfortable interview environment, each session began with a brief introduction and an explanation of the study's purpose. Participants were assured of the confidentiality of their responses and informed that the conversation would be recorded, transcribed, anonymized, and used exclusively for academic purposes. This process was critical to ensuring ethical research practices, safeguarding participant anonymity, and maintaining the integrity of the data.

Informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to the commencement of the interviews. They were informed of their right to withdraw from the study at any point without any consequences. The recording and transcription process was conducted with the utmost respect for participant privacy, with all identifiable information being removed to maintain anonymity. The transcriptions were stored securely, accessible only to the research team, to further protect participant confidentiality.

4.2 Data analysis

The analytical process commenced with a comprehensive reading of the transcribed interviews to familiarize myself with the depth and breadth of the content. This initial reading was essential for developing an intuitive understanding of the participants' perspectives and the overarching narratives within the data. Subsequently, the data was systematically analyzed through the lens of the research objectives, guiding the thematic analysis process.

The coding process was meticulously planned and executed following the transcription of the interviews. Initially, the answers were directly correlated with the corresponding questions, based on common themes, for maintain the integrity of the participants' responses and ensure that the analysis was grounded in the actual data.

4.2.1 List of questions

- 1. Can you describe your primary roles and responsibilities as a business analytics worker in your organization?
- 2. How do you see your role evolving in the context of the changing landscape of business analytics?
- 3. What are the most significant challenges you face in your role as a business analytics worker?

- 4. In your experience, how does your work in business analytics influence decision-making and performance in your organization?
- 5. Can you provide an example of a project or analysis you conducted that had a significant impact on your organization?
- 6. What skills do you find most critical in your role as a business analytics worker?
- 7. How does your organization support your ongoing learning and development in the field of business analytics?
- 8. From your perspective, what are the emerging trends in business analytics that practitioners need to be aware of?
- 9. Do you have any advice for aspiring business analytics professionals based on your experiences?

From this correlation, abstracts, or significant excerpts that encapsulated key ideas, sentiments, or experiences shared by the participants, were identified. These abstracts were then subjected to a preliminary coding process, where labels were assigned to denote their core essence or thematic relevance. This coding was instrumental in organizing the data into manageable segments for further analysis.

The initial codes were generated inductively, rooted in the specifics of the data rather than preconceived categories. This approach allowed for the emergence of unexpected insights and themes, reflecting the true richness of the participants' contributions. As the coding process progressed, codes were reviewed and refined, and relationships between them were identified. This iterative process ensured that the coding schema evolved in alignment with a deeper understanding of the data.

Comparative analysis played a crucial role in this phase, where coded abstracts from different interviews were compared to identify commonalities and divergences. This comparison facilitated the identification of overarching themes and sub-themes that transcended individual responses, providing a nuanced understanding of the phenomena under study.

The culmination of this analytical process was the development of a thematic map, illustrating the interconnections between identified themes and their relation to the research questions. This thematic map served as the foundation for the subsequent interpretation and discussion of the findings, linking back to the existing literature and theoretical frameworks discussed in earlier chapters.

4.2.2 Thematic map

Analytical processes and tools

- Sales analysis and forecasting
- Complex insights and predictive analytics
- Shift from post-factum reporting
- Adoption of advanced analytics
- User-friendly analytic tools
- Data-driven dashboards
- Predictive analytics and actionable recommendations
- Real-time data analysis and data governance
- Self-service analytics tools

Data management and security

- Data collection and cleaning
- Data volume and security
- Data access and security
- Data integrity and standardization
- Data accuracy and literacy
- Procurement data governance

Strategic business integration

- Strategic decision support
- Integration across business processes
- Market research
- Market segmentation
- Operational and financial planning
- Working capital optimization
- Marketing strategy optimization
- Comparative strategy development

Interpersonal and organizational dynamics

- Cross-functional collaboration
- Communicating insights
- Sales and field behavior
- Complex decision support
- Implementation and adoption
- Resource constraints
- Interpersonal skills
- Business acumen and understanding
- Critical thinking
- Technical-business translation
- Development of soft skills

Technology and innovation

- Rapid technological change
- Artificial intelligence and machine learning

• Democratization of analytics

Professional development and learning

- Technical proficiency
- Adaptability and continuous learning
- Formal training
- Mentoring and learning on the job
- Critical Thinking and Skill Enhancement
- External Workshops and Industry Conferences
- Practical Experience
- Understanding Data's Role
- Versatile Skill Set

4.3 Data protection

In the context of semi-structured interviews, data protection involves ensuring the confidentiality and privacy of participants' information. This includes obtaining informed consent, where participants are made aware of the study's purpose, how their data will be used, and their rights to withdraw at any time. Data should be anonymized or pseudonymized, removing any identifiable information to protect participants' identities. Secure storage of data, both physical and electronic, is essential, with access limited to authorized personnel. Finally, compliance with relevant data protection regulations, such as the GDPR in Europe, is crucial, which mandates clear protocols for data collection, processing, and storage.

4.4 Limitations

Interview methodology, despite its utility in gathering detailed information, has inherent limitations that affect its reliability and generalizability. One significant drawback is the variation in respondents' immediate responsibilities and the methods they employ to meet these obligations, which can differ markedly across and within organizations due to diverse management structures. This variability can lead to inconsistencies in responses, making it challenging to draw broad conclusions from the data. Moreover, the subjective nature of interviews may also introduce bias, as interviewees' perceptions and the interviewer's interpretation can influence the outcomes, further complicating the analysis and application of findings.

5. Findings and analysis

- 5.1 The role of business analytics workers in the adoption of business analytics.
- 5.1.1 Primary roles and responsibilities of a business analytics worker

In the ever-evolving landscape of business operations, the role of business analytics has become increasingly pivotal. As companies navigate through vast amounts of data, the need for skilled professionals to interpret and leverage this information is paramount. A survey involving specialists in business analytics has shed light on the critical roles these professionals play across various organizational functions. This survey encompassed a broad spectrum of industries and aimed to understand the practical and strategic implications of business analytics in contemporary settings.

One of the most salient roles identified in the survey is the support for strategic decision-making. Business analytics professionals harness rigorous data analysis to steer long-term planning and optimize day-to-day operations. An exemplary case cited from the survey involved a respondent who played a crucial role in "leveraging data to inform strategic business decisions." This individual emphasized, "The pivotal role that analytics plays is not just in handling data, but in extracting meaningful insights that directly contribute to guiding the company's strategic direction."

Operational optimization emerged as another critical area where business analytics significantly impacts. The survey highlighted several instances where analytics directly improved operational efficiency. For instance, one respondent described their involvement in enhancing logistical operations, leading to cost reductions and improved service delivery, stating, "Our analytical efforts lead directly to enhanced operational efficiency and performance."

Effective collaboration across various departments is indispensable, as evidenced by the survey responses. Business analytics professionals frequently work alongside IT, marketing, and operations teams to integrate data-driven insights into broader business strategies. One respondent highlighted, "I collaborate with cross-functional teams to integrate analytics into business processes," underscoring the interdisciplinary nature of their work and the necessity to bridge technical analysis with practical business applications.

At the foundation of analytics is the meticulous task of data collection and cleaning, highlighted as a critical role by several survey respondents. This involves ensuring the accuracy and integrity of data, which is paramount in providing reliable insights. One professional noted, "I spend

significant time collecting, cleaning, interpreting, and leveraging intricate data," emphasizing the foundational yet critical nature of this task.

Finally, understanding market dynamics and consumer behavior is crucial. Analytics professionals apply their skills to decipher market trends and consumer preferences, which are essential in shaping strategic marketing and product development decisions. A respondent mentioned, "Analyzing market trends and customer behavior helps shape the company's marketing strategies and product offerings," illustrating the direct impact of analytics on market responsiveness and strategic positioning.

Experts in the field support these findings with real-world examples. For instance, a senior analyst at a leading tech firm emphasized how their data analysis led to a 30% increase in marketing ROI by targeting key customer segments more effectively. Another expert pointed out the role of analytics in reducing supply chain bottlenecks during the recent global disruptions, showcasing the strategic importance of analytics in crisis situations.

Despite these positive endorsements, some specialists express concerns. A few argue that an overemphasis on data can lead to "analysis paralysis," where decision-making is slowed by excessive data scrutiny. As one critic mentioned, "Sometimes, we risk getting so bogged down in the data that we miss the market move." However, the majority rebuttal emphasizes that effective analytics, when applied judiciously, balances data with decisive action, ensuring that insights enhance rather than hinder operational agility.

The findings from this survey highlight the indispensable role of business analytics in shaping the strategic and operational frameworks of modern enterprises. As these professionals transform complex data into actionable insights, they not only drive decision-making but also enhance overall business performance. The ongoing evolution of business analytics promises to redefine the landscape of business operations, making it an exciting area for future academic and practical exploration.

5.1.2 Evolving of business analytics workers role in the context of the changing landscape of business analytics

The landscape of business analytics is undergoing a remarkable transformation, influenced by rapid technological advancements and an expanding role within organizational strategies. A survey of specialists in this field has highlighted significant shifts from traditional practices to more dynamic and predictive analytics. This detailed examination of the changing role of

business analytics professionals underscores the critical nature of their work as it becomes increasingly integrated into the strategic and operational frameworks of organizations.

The transition from descriptive to predictive analytics marks a pivotal shift in the field of business analytics. As one respondent aptly noted, "We are moving towards deriving more complex, predictive insights from our data." This change is not merely a technical evolution but a strategic enhancement, allowing organizations to anticipate market trends and customer behavior more effectively, thereby facilitating proactive decision-making and strategy formulation.

With data growing in complexity, there is a corresponding increase in the demand for advanced analytical skills such as machine learning and data mining. As highlighted by a professional during the survey, "The role of analytics has expanded beyond traditional reporting to include proactive planning and scenario assessment." This evolution underscores the need for analysts to engage in continuous learning and skill development to remain effective and relevant in their roles.

Rapid technological changes are fundamentally reshaping the role of business analysts, who must now quickly adapt to new tools and technologies. A participant emphasized, "Analytics systems need to be easy to tune and adapt to keep up with the pace of change." This adaptability is crucial not just for staying current with technological advancements but also for leveraging these new tools to enhance analytical capabilities and drive better business outcomes.

The democratization of analytics tools is another significant trend, making these technologies accessible to a broader range of business users. This shift is enabling more individuals within organizations to engage directly with analytics, thereby fostering a stronger data-driven culture. As one respondent expressed, "We are empowering business users with user-friendly analytic tools, allowing them to perform their analyses independently." This trend reduces dependence on specialized analysts for routine tasks and integrates analytical thinking across various organizational levels.

As data utilization increases, so does the importance of ensuring its security and governance. The expansion in data volume and strategic significance necessitates robust governance frameworks to maintain data integrity and comply with regulatory requirements. A professional pointed out, "The volume of data is exploding, and ensuring its security is a huge challenge." This statement highlights the critical need for stringent data management practices in the evolving landscape of business analytics.

While the majority of experts herald these advancements as positive, there are voices of caution. Some analysts express concerns about potential over-reliance on predictive models, which could lead to neglect of real-time market dynamics. A counterpoint raised was, "Predictive analytics can sometimes detach us from the present, focusing too much on future probabilities." However, the majority rebut these concerns, emphasizing that a balanced approach combining predictive insights with current data can enhance rather than impede decision-making.

In conclusion, the role of business analytics professionals is dynamically evolving, driven by technological advancements and a shift towards more strategic roles within organizations. These professionals are not only required to handle complex data but also to interpret and utilize this information to drive significant business decisions. As this field continues to develop, future research will likely explore the integration of even more advanced technologies and methodologies, further cementing the role of analytics at the core of organizational success. This ongoing evolution highlights the increasing importance of business analytics in shaping the future of businesses in the digital age.

- 5.2 Challenges faced by analytics workers in business analytics.
- 5.2.1 Most significant challenges business analytics worker face in their work

The role of business analytics professionals is increasingly critical in the information-driven era, where data translates directly into competitive advantage. A comprehensive survey of these professionals across various industries highlights the multifaceted challenges they face in their roles. This exploration is not only essential for understanding the current landscape but also for paving the way for future enhancements in the field of business analytics.

A significant hurdle identified in the survey is the access to and security of raw data, which is foundational for deep analytical work. One professional aptly described the situation: "Getting access to raw data is a constant struggle, and even when we do, ensuring its security is another significant hurdle." This challenge underscores the need for robust data governance frameworks that ensure both accessibility and security, balancing the demand for deep analytics with the imperative of data integrity.

From an operational standpoint, the survey reveals significant barriers in the adoption and implementation of analytics tools. Cultural resistance within organizations and resource limitations are predominant issues. As one respondent expressed, "The top-down implementation approach sometimes fails to engage employees who do not see the direct value of analytics."

This indicates a need for more inclusive strategies that align analytical initiatives with the personnel's perceived benefits and organizational culture.

Strategically, aligning analytics with business goals remains a daunting task. Defining relevant KPIs and metrics that reflect true business performance is critical. A surveyed analyst noted, "Defining KPIs that accurately measure our strategic goals continues to be a challenge because it requires a deep understanding of both our data and our business." This challenge highlights the necessity for a close synergy between business strategists and analytics teams to ensure that data insights lead to actionable business outcomes.

The swift evolution of analytics technologies requires professionals to maintain a flexible and adaptive approach. "The landscape is evolving so fast that keeping up with the latest tools and techniques is almost a full-time job in itself," remarked another professional. This ongoing challenge emphasizes the importance of continuous professional development and organizational support in fostering adaptability.

Communicating complex data insights to non-technical stakeholders is another significant challenge identified. Effective communication is crucial, as one respondent highlighted, "Translating complex data into strategic insights that non-technical stakeholders can use is always challenging." This skill is vital for ensuring that insights are not only delivered but are actionable and influential in decision-making processes.

While the survey highlights these challenges, some experts argue that the emphasis on advanced technologies and complex data handling might detract from focusing on actionable insights that directly benefit business operations. However, the majority opinion supports the view that these challenges, though significant, are integral to the evolution of business analytics. They argue that addressing these issues proactively will enhance the strategic value of analytics within organizations.

In summary, business analytics professionals navigate a complex landscape characterized by technical, operational, and strategic challenges. These challenges require a nuanced approach that includes enhancing data accessibility, improving stakeholder engagement, aligning analytics with business objectives, adapting to technological advances, and effectively communicating insights. As one interviewee concluded, "Navigating these challenges is not just about handling data but about driving real business growth and strategic change." The path forward involves not only recognizing these challenges but actively developing strategies to address them, thereby maximizing the potential of business analytics to drive sustainable success in the digital age.

Future research should focus on innovative approaches to these challenges, exploring new tools, educational strategies, and organizational changes that could further empower analytics professionals.

- 5.3 The contribution of business analytics in organizational performance
- 5.3.1 Examples of business analytics workers impact on the organization

In the dynamic realm of modern business, the role of business analytics professionals is becoming increasingly indispensable. A detailed survey involving a wide range of professionals within this field has underscored the profound impact that analytics has on enhancing organizational strategies, operations, and outcomes. This survey provides critical insights into how data-driven approaches are reshaping business landscapes across various sectors, emphasizing the importance of analytics in driving both tactical and strategic decisions.

At the forefront of the contributions made by business analytics is the enhancement of strategic decision-making. Professionals in the field leverage data to guide long-term planning and everyday business decisions. One respondent illustrated this impact vividly: "Our analytics work has directly shaped the strategic direction of the company by identifying new market opportunities and optimizing our resource allocation." This reflects how analytics not only supports but catalyzes strategic initiatives, pushing organizations towards more informed and effective planning.

Operational optimization is another critical area where analytics has shown significant benefits. Through the meticulous analysis of workflow data, professionals can pinpoint inefficiencies and implement necessary changes. For example, one professional noted, "By analyzing workflow data, we identified bottlenecks and implemented changes that improved our operational throughput by 30%." Such enhancements underscore the tangible improvements that analytics can bring to operational efficiency and overall business performance.

In the domain of financial planning, analytics plays a pivotal role in forecasting and risk management. A respondent highlighted the utility of predictive analytics in financial contexts: "Our predictive analytics capabilities allow us to forecast sales trends with high accuracy, which has been crucial for our budgeting and financial planning." This precision in forecasting is essential for making more accurate financial decisions and minimizing risks associated with fiscal mismanagement.

Analytics significantly contributes to market segmentation and the understanding of customer behaviors, thereby enhancing targeted marketing strategies and customer retention. One analyst shared their experience: "Using analytics, we segmented our customer base more effectively, which led to targeted marketing campaigns that increased customer retention rates by 20%." This approach not only boosts revenue growth but also enhances customer satisfaction and loyalty.

In risk management, analytics provides crucial insights that help preemptively address potential threats. "Our data analysis has enabled us to predict potential risks in our supply chain, leading to proactive measures that have saved us from substantial financial losses," stated one professional. This proactive stance in managing risks is vital for maintaining business continuity and stability.

Despite the clear benefits, some professionals caution against an over-reliance on data analytics, suggesting it can create a disconnect from real-world conditions. One critic pointed out, "There's a risk of becoming so data-driven that we lose sight of the human elements and market nuances that our models can't capture." However, most experts rebut this by emphasizing the need for a balanced approach that integrates data insights with human judgment and industry knowledge. "While analytics provides the roadmap, it's our understanding and intuition that drive the car," another professional countered, illustrating the complementary relationship between data-driven strategies and human expertise.

Another counterpoint raises concerns about data privacy and ethical use: "With the increase in data collection, there are serious privacy concerns and ethical dilemmas that we must navigate carefully," a respondent cautioned. This perspective is crucial, but as many experts agree, robust governance and ethical frameworks can address these concerns effectively, ensuring analytics is both powerful and responsible.

A significant cultural shift towards data-driven decision making marks a transformative impact of business analytics. As articulated by a leader in the field, "Integrating analytics into our daily operations has fostered a culture where decisions are made based on data, not just intuition." This evolution is pivotal for increasing decision-making transparency, accountability, and consistency within organizations.

Finally, business analytics fosters innovation and sustains competitive advantage by enabling quick adaptation to market trends and consumer preferences. "Our ability to quickly analyze market trends and adapt our offerings has kept us ahead of competitors in a rapidly evolving industry," remarked an analyst. This agility is crucial in industries characterized by rapid technological and market changes.

In conclusion, business analytics profoundly influences various aspects of organizational operations and strategic planning, demonstrating its indispensable role in modern business environments. The real-world applications and outcomes discussed highlight the critical nature of analytics in driving business growth, operational efficiency, and competitive advantage. This continuous evolution will likely further solidify the role of analytics in achieving sustainable business success and innovation.

- 5.4 Skills and training needed in business analytics.
- 5.4.1 Most critical skills for business analytics workers

In the dynamic and rapidly evolving field of business analytics, possessing a robust set of skills is essential for professionals to effectively contribute to their organizations and drive business success. The synthesis of insights from interviews with business analytics professionals highlights several critical skills that are paramount in this field. These skills are not only technical but also include interpersonal and conceptual abilities that enable analytics workers to execute their roles effectively.

A core competency for any business analytics professional is technical proficiency. This includes a deep understanding of data analysis tools such as SQL for data manipulation, Python or R for data analysis and modeling, and business intelligence software like Power BI or Tableau for data visualization. Mastery of these tools allows professionals to handle large datasets and perform complex analyses effectively. As one respondent aptly put it, "The ability to manipulate and understand data through advanced tools like Power BI is fundamental in our work." This skill set is crucial for extracting meaningful insights from complex data arrays, which in turn supports strategic decision-making and operational improvements.

Moreover individuals in the field of business analytics should possess business acumen, which involves understanding the business landscape, industry trends and the economic backdrop within which the organization operates. This expertise allows them to align their tasks with broader business goals and grasp the impact of their discoveries on the company. One interviewee remarked, "It's not just about the data; it's about understanding what the data means in the context of our business goals." This ability to connect analytics with business strategy enhances the relevance and value of their contributions.

Critical thinking is crucial for assessing data questioning assumptions and interpreting information to make informed choices. Professionals in business analytics need to cultivate analytical thinking skills to pinpoint underlying issues and devise effective solutions. "Analyzing

data isn't enough; we need to think critically about what the data tells us and how it relates to our challenges," stated one professional. This skill is especially important in a landscape where data not only informs decisions but also prompts further questions and investigations.

Effective communication involves the ability to convey complex information in a clear, concise, and persuasive manner to stakeholders with varying levels of technical expertise. This includes creating detailed reports, presentations, and visualizations that can speak to both technical and non-technical audiences. As one respondent highlighted, "Being able to translate complex analytical insights into clear, actionable information for decision-makers is key." This skill ensures that insights lead to informed decisions and are integrated into business processes effectively.

The tech landscape is always changing, introducing tools, methods and best practices on a regular basis. Professionals in business analytics must actively engage in learning and adapting to keep up with evolving technologies and market shifts. "The landscape is always changing, and staying updated is not optional—it's essential," expressed another interviewee. This ability to learn and adapt is vital for maintaining effectiveness and relevance in the role.

Business analytics involves collaboration across business areas like marketing, finance, operations, and IT making it an interdisciplinary field that demands close teamwork. Effective collaboration ensures that analytical findings are incorporated throughout the business and that projects are successfully executed. "Our success depends not just on how well we analyze data, but on how effectively we can collaborate with teams from marketing, operations, and beyond," a professional remarked.

In conclusion, the most critical skills for business analytics professionals encompass a blend of technical expertise, business understanding, critical thinking, communication abilities, adaptability, and collaborative skills. These competencies enable them to effectively convert complex data into strategic insights, which can drive significant business decisions and operational improvements. The insights from these interviews underscore the multifaceted nature of the roles played by analytics professionals and highlight the diverse skill set required to thrive in this field. This comprehensive skill set not only facilitates the immediate application of data-driven strategies but also supports the long-term strategic goals of their organizations, ensuring sustained business growth and competitiveness.

5.4.2 Organization support in ongoing learning and development of business analytics workers

In the swiftly evolving domain of business analytics, continuous professional development is paramount for maintaining competitiveness and adaptability. A thorough analysis of interviews with professionals in the field has underscored the necessity of structured support systems within organizations to facilitate ongoing learning and skill enhancement. This analysis explores the various strategies employed to nurture the growth of business analytics professionals, illustrating the importance of these efforts in sustaining a proficient and agile workforce.

Organizations are increasingly implementing structured training programs to keep pace with rapid technological advancements. These programs cover a spectrum from basic analytics concepts to advanced tools and techniques. A respondent highlighted their organization's commitment: "We have regular training sessions that cover everything from new analytics features to in-depth training on complex tools like Power BI." Such structured training is crucial for ensuring that professionals remain adept with evolving technologies and methodologies.

Experiential learning, complemented by mentoring, forms a core part of development strategies in analytics roles. As one professional emphasized, "Hands-on experience is invaluable. Our company pairs less experienced analysts with senior team members to provide real-time learning opportunities on active projects." This approach not only aids in the practical application of analytical skills but also facilitates the transfer of tacit knowledge and nuanced expertise within the organization.

The cultivation of critical thinking abilities is fundamental for business analysts to navigate complex data landscapes effectively. "We conduct regular workshops aimed at enhancing our analysts' ability to think critically and solve problems creatively," shared another interviewee. Enhancing these skills is essential for professionals tasked with translating intricate datasets into actionable business insights.

Participation in external workshops and industry conferences is another pillar supporting professional development. These forums provide exposure to cutting-edge trends and cross-industry insights. Reflecting on the benefits, a respondent said, "Attending industry conferences has helped me stay ahead of trends and understand how analytics is evolving across different sectors." This broader perspective is vital for fostering a well-rounded understanding of business analytics applications.

Further professional development opportunities are crucial for a holistic understanding of business dynamics beyond technical expertise. "Our organization encourages us to pursue certifications and even supports further education like master's degrees in data science," a professional mentioned. This type of support is instrumental in cultivating a workforce that is not only technically proficient but also strategically astute.

Some forward-thinking organizations invest in innovation labs, where professionals can experiment with new technologies and methodologies. "Our innovation lab is a space where our analysts can test new algorithms and data sources in a controlled environment, which is great for fostering innovation," noted a leader. This initiative allows analysts to push the boundaries of traditional analytics without the immediate pressures of business outcomes.

A crucial overarching theme is the cultivation of a culture that values and integrates continuous learning into the fabric of daily operations. A senior analyst expressed this sentiment: "It's not just about providing training programs; it's about creating an environment where continuous learning is part of our DNA." Embedding a learning culture ensures that development becomes a consistent and enduring aspect of professional life.

Despite these positive developments, some skeptics argue that the rapid pace of change can lead to training fatigue and overwhelm professionals. However, the majority view, as supported by the survey, suggests that well-paced, diverse, and clearly targeted training programs can mitigate these issues effectively. By aligning training closely with both individual career paths and organizational goals, businesses can ensure that professional development remains both relevant and invigorating.

The comprehensive support for ongoing learning and development in business analytics is critical for both individual career growth and organizational success. Organizations that invest wisely in their human capital, from structured training to fostering innovative cultures, are better positioned to navigate the complexities of the modern data-driven landscape. This strategic approach to professional development in business analytics not only enhances current capabilities but also prepares organizations and individuals for future challenges and opportunities.

5.5 Emerging trends in business analytics

The field of business analytics is experiencing unprecedented growth and transformation, largely fueled by rapid advancements in technology and evolving business demands. This expansion is

pivotal as it significantly enhances how companies operate and strategize. A comprehensive survey involving specialists in business analytics has shed light on several emerging trends that are currently reshaping the landscape of this field. These trends underscore a movement toward more sophisticated, accessible, and proactive analytics practices that are pivotal in transforming industries and refining organizational strategies.

A prominent trend identified is the deeper integration of Artificial Intelligence (AI) and Machine Learning (ML) into business analytics. This integration facilitates complex data analysis and enhances decision-making processes. One professional articulated this shift, stating, "AI and ML are no longer just buzzwords but are central to our analytics operations, allowing us to process large volumes of data and generate insights at unprecedented speeds." This development signifies a move towards automating analysis, heavily relying on AI and ML to drive predictive capabilities and inform strategic business decisions.

The democratization of analytics tools represents another significant trend, making these technologies accessible to non-technical users. This expansion allows a wider array of organizational stakeholders to engage with data analysis directly. "We're seeing a shift where analytics tools are designed for end-users across the organization, not just specialized analysts," explained a respondent. Such accessibility is crucial for cultivating a data-driven culture where more employees are empowered to make informed decisions based on solid data insights.

Further advancements in predictive analytics have been highlighted, with modern tools providing not only insights but also actionable recommendations. "Predictive analytics are being used to not just interpret data, but to forecast future trends and inform our strategic planning," a participant noted. This proactivity enables organizations to better anticipate market changes and consumer behaviors, thus facilitating more strategic and informed decision-making processes.

The increasing need for real-time data analysis, along with a stronger emphasis on data governance and ethics, has also been noted. "Our stakeholders demand up-to-the-minute insights, which has driven the need for real-time analytics that adhere to stricter data governance policies," stated a professional. This trend highlights the importance of agile analytics practices capable of responding to immediate business needs while maintaining data security and adhering to regulatory compliance.

The rise of self-service analytics tools marks a continuing trend towards enabling powerful analytical capabilities without requiring extensive technical knowledge. "Self-service tools have revolutionized how we approach data, allowing more team members to generate reports and

insights without IT's involvement," another interviewee remarked. This trend is instrumental in embedding analytics more deeply into the fabric of organizational operations.

Despite the enthusiastic adoption of these trends, some skeptics argue that the rapid incorporation of AI and advanced analytics could lead to an over-reliance on technology, potentially overshadowing human intuition and ethical considerations. However, the majority view refutes this, emphasizing the importance of a balanced approach that integrates technological advancements with human oversight. "While we leverage AI to handle large data sets, strategic decisions are still reviewed by teams to ensure they align with our ethical standards and business objectives," counters one expert, highlighting that technology is a tool to augment, not replace, human judgment.

In conclusion, the survey indicates that the field of business analytics is moving towards a more dynamic, integrated, and strategically focused practice. The trends identified suggest a future where business analytics is not just about managing data but about harnessing advanced technologies to make smarter, faster business decisions.

6. Discussion

The exploration of insights from both literature and professional interviews unveils a multifaceted view of business analytics (BA), marking a confluence of evolving roles, technological advancements, and strategic implications. This narrative seeks to weave together these strands, providing a holistic perspective on the challenges and opportunities within the BA domain.

Both the literature and the interview findings underscore the pivotal role of BA professionals in integrating business intelligence (BI) and analytics to support decision-making frameworks. Bhaumik et al. (2022) and Raghupathi and Raghupathi (2021) emphasized the necessity for analytical skills that blend operational data with analytical tools, a sentiment echoed in the interview responses that highlighted the importance of "leveraging data to inform strategic business decisions." This reaffirms the critical responsibility of analytics workers in ensuring the accessibility and usability of complex business information, bridging the gap between data and decision-making processes.

The literature and interviews converge on the significance of BA in fostering innovation and competitive advantage. As noted by Božič and Dimovski (2019) and supported by Duan et al. (2020) and Kristoffersen et al. (2021), analytics workers play a crucial role in enhancing

environmental scanning and fostering a data-driven culture essential for innovation. This is mirrored in the interview findings, where BA workers described their roles in terms of analyzing market trends, customer behavior, and contributing to the strategic planning and decision-making processes. The emphasis on converting complex data into actionable insights underscores the BA professionals' pivotal role in not only supporting but actively driving innovation and competitive strategies.

The interviews reveal an evolving landscape of business analytics, characterized by an increasing complexity, the advent of AI, and a shift towards predictive analytics and real-time data processing. This reflects the literature's insights on the role of analytics workers in leveraging Industry 4.0 technologies (Ferreira et al., 2023; Wolniak and Grebski, 2023; Yalcin et al., 2022) and underscores the growing importance of continuous learning and adaptation among BA professionals. The literature's emphasis on the strategic application of analytics and the necessity for a blend of technical proficiency and business acumen is affirmed by the interviewees' experiences, highlighting a dynamic field where the capacity to innovate and adapt is crucial.

A key theme emerging from both the literature review and interviews is the BA professionals' role in bridging the gap between technical analytics and strategic business applications. The multifaceted role of analytics workers, as highlighted by Chahal et al. (2019), encompasses not just the identification and prediction of market trends but also the optimization of business processes and enhancement of customer engagement strategies. The interview responses further illuminate this role, emphasizing collaboration, communication, and the operational application of analytics to enhance business outcomes. This duality of technical expertise and strategic vision is pivotal in transforming complex data into strategic insights that drive organizational efficiency, innovation, and competitive advantage.

Both the literature and interviews underscore the double-edged sword of technological advancements in BA. While offering powerful analytical capabilities, rapid technological evolution presents significant challenges, notably in data management and integration. Liu et al. (2023) and the interview responses concur on the complexities of integrating disparate data sources, maintaining data integrity, and ensuring privacy. This highlights a universal struggle among BA professionals in navigating the fast-paced technological landscape while striving for high-quality data management practices.

A pronounced skills gap is identified as a critical challenge in both the literature and interview findings. Raghupathi and Raghupathi (2021) and Seal et al. (2020) discuss the evolving demands

of analytics roles, emphasizing not only the need for technical competencies but also soft skills for effective communication and collaboration. Interview responses mirror this concern, pointing towards the necessity for BA professionals to possess a blend of technical, analytical, and soft skills to navigate the complex BA environment successfully. This skills gap underscores the importance of continuous learning and development to keep pace with the evolving demands of the field.

The challenge of integrating analytics into organizational processes, hindered by cultural resistance and misalignment with business strategy, emerges as a central theme in both literature and interviews. Polzer (2022) and Hindle et al. (2020) discuss the need for a cultural shift towards data-driven decision-making and strategic alignment of analytics projects. Similarly, interviewees describe the implementation of BA as a top-down process often met with skepticism, underscoring the importance of aligning analytics initiatives with overarching business objectives to overcome resistance and maximize the value of analytics.

Concerns surrounding data privacy, security, and ethical use are paramount in both academic and professional discourse. The literature review and interview responses highlight the criticality of navigating regulatory landscapes, establishing robust data governance frameworks, and mitigating biases in data and analytical models. This shared concern reflects the broader ethical considerations in BA practice, emphasizing the need for vigilant oversight and responsible analytics to maintain trust and compliance.

The suggestion by Silaban (2022) to explore industry-specific BA challenges and strategies for fostering a data-driven culture resonates with the interview findings, which reveal a complex environment shaped by technical, organizational, and strategic hurdles. This points towards a broader implication for future research and practice: the need to tailor BA strategies to the unique contexts of different industries, thereby enhancing the strategic value of BA for decision-making, innovation, and competitive advantage.

The literature highlights the transformative potential of BA in enhancing strategic decision-making and operational efficiencies, with a particular focus on the integration of Business Intelligence (BI) systems to navigate competitive landscapes (Bhaumik et al., 2022). Interview responses echo this sentiment, illustrating concrete instances where BA projects, such as market segmentation and working capital management, directly contributed to revenue growth and operational efficiency. These real-world examples validate the strategic value of BA articulated in the literature, demonstrating its critical role in driving tangible organizational transformations.

The literature review identifies challenges related to adapting to a data-driven culture and effectively using BA for environmental scanning (Duan et al., 2020). Interviews shed light on similar themes, with BA workers discussing the movement towards more complex insights and the necessity for continuous skill development in response to technological advancements and the expanding scope of analytics. This parallel underscores the ongoing need for organizations and professionals to adapt to the evolving dynamics of a data-driven business environment, reinforcing the literature's call for continuous learning and development.

The impact of technological advancements, particularly in AI and real-time data processing, is a prominent theme across both the literature and interviews. While the literature discusses the transformative potential of these technologies in enhancing organizational performance and innovation (Polzer, 2022; Ferreira et al., 2023), interviewees highlight the practical challenges and opportunities they present, such as the necessity for BA professionals to possess a blend of technical skills and soft skills. This reflects a nuanced understanding of technology's role in BA, emphasizing not only its capabilities but also the critical human element required for interpreting data within its broader business context.

Both the literature and interviews touch on ethical considerations and the development of a diverse set of skills among workers. Polzer (2022) emphasizes the importance of data literacy, ethical judgment, and adaptability in navigating challenges related to bias, privacy, and organizational dynamics. Interviews complement this view by underscoring the democratization of analytics tools and the shift towards empowering non-technical users with analytics capabilities. This convergence highlights the broader implications of BA practices, including ethical considerations and the imperative for comprehensive skill development among BA professionals.

Both the literature and the interviews emphasize the critical importance of a diverse skill set for BA professionals, spanning technical proficiency, analytical acumen, and business insight. The literature underscores the foundational requirement for technical skills such as data management and programming, alongside the necessity for advanced analytical capabilities and effective communication skills (Duan et al., 2020; Ozturk and Hartzel, 2020). Similarly, interview responses highlight the indispensable combination of foundational technical skills, advanced cognitive abilities, and robust interpersonal skills. This convergence confirms the multidimensional skill set required for success in the BA field, aligning with academic assertions regarding the need for comprehensive education and training in both technical and soft skills (Chahal et al., 2019; Johnson et al., 2020).

Interview findings reveal several key emerging trends that resonate with the literature's perspective on the future of BA. The growing role of artificial intelligence (AI) and machine learning (ML), the embedding of analytics into end-user tools, and the democratization of data analytics are identified as significant shifts transforming the BA landscape (Kaushik, 2022; Stanton and Stanton, 2020). These insights align with the literature's emphasis on the importance of AI and ML methodologies in driving the demand for more sophisticated training in these areas. Furthermore, the literature and interviews alike underscore the expanding application of analytics across various business sectors and the escalating significance of data ethics and privacy (Stanton and Stanton, 2020; Silaban, 2022). This consensus highlights the dynamic nature of BA, pointing to a future where analytics professionals must navigate technological advancements, ethical considerations, and the broad applicability of analytics in business.

The literature review and the interviews identify notable gaps in current training programs for BA professionals. While many possess strong technical capabilities, there is a recognized need for enhanced training in business acumen, data ethics, and privacy (Silaban, 2022). Interview responses further illuminate the importance of adaptability and continuous learning as essential attributes for BA professionals, suggesting that current educational programs may not fully address the rapid pace of change in the field. This gap underscores the literature's call for a multidimensional approach to education and training that encompasses not only data science and analytics but also business strategy and ethical awareness (Chahal et al., 2019; Johnson et al., 2020).

The interview findings underscore the significance of ongoing learning and development supported by organizations through formal training, mentoring, on-the-job learning, and external workshops. This reflects the literature's advocacy for continuous professional development as crucial for keeping abreast of the latest tools, technologies, and methodologies in the rapidly evolving BA field (Johnson et al., 2020). The alignment between the literature and interview responses on this aspect highlights the collective recognition of the need for continuous skill enhancement in BA professionals to effectively contribute to organizational success.

Future research in Business Analytics (BA) should traverse a multifaceted landscape, addressing the integration of Business Intelligence (BI) and analytics within organizations, their role in fostering innovation and competitive advantage, and the continuous adaptation to technological advances. Investigating effective strategies for bridging the technical-strategic divide and developing competencies for BA professionals is crucial, as is exploring industry-specific BA challenges and the impact of BA on organizational transformation. Ethical considerations,

especially in data management and privacy, alongside the BA skills gap, underscore the need for comprehensive training programs aligned with industry demands. Additionally, examining the organizational support for continuous learning will highlight approaches to sustain professional development in a rapidly evolving field. Research should also focus on the strategic alignment of BA practices within organizational cultures to overcome resistance and leverage data-driven decision-making. The dynamic interplay between technological advancements and the requisite human skills, including soft skills, requires further exploration to balance innovation with ethical and strategic considerations. This comprehensive approach to future research will advance the BA field, ensuring its relevance and impact on strategic decision-making, innovation, and maintaining competitive advantage.

7. Conclusion

Investigation into the experiences, challenges, contributions, and skills of business analytics workers across European startups and enterprises has illuminated a complex landscape shaped by rapid technological evolution and strategic business demands. The study synthesized findings from a broad literature review and numerous professional interviews, offering a comprehensive view on the role of business analytics (BA) professionals within these settings.

Business analytics professionals are pivotal in bridging the gap between raw data and strategic decision-making. Our findings reveal that these workers are integral in analyzing market trends, customer behavior, and other key business metrics, thus actively contributing to the formulation of strategic initiatives. Their role often involves transforming complex data into actionable insights, a task that is critical for driving innovation and maintaining competitive advantage. This dynamic role not only demands technical expertise but also a deep understanding of the business landscape, underscoring the necessity for a blend of data management skills and strategic acumen.

The study highlights several challenges encountered by analytics workers, including the integration of disparate data sources, ensuring data integrity, and managing privacy concerns. These challenges are compounded by the rapid pace of technological change, particularly with the advent of AI and predictive analytics, which require continuous skill development to ensure effective utilization. Additionally, cultural resistance within organizations and alignment of analytics strategies with business objectives pose significant obstacles, emphasizing the need for strategic foresight and adept change management.

The contribution of BA professionals to organizational performance cannot be overstated. They play a crucial role in enhancing decision-making processes, which in turn improves operational efficiency and drives revenue growth. Our research corroborates that effective business analytics fosters innovation by enabling organizations to preemptively respond to market conditions and customer needs. However, realizing these benefits is highly contingent on the organization's ability to integrate and leverage analytics within its strategic frameworks.

A pronounced skills gap was identified, particularly in balancing technical capabilities with soft skills such as effective communication and teamwork. Continuous learning emerges as a vital theme, with a need for ongoing training and professional development to keep pace with technological advancements and evolving business demands. The development of robust training programs that encompass not only technical and analytical skills but also business strategy and ethical considerations is essential for preparing BA professionals to meet current and future challenges.

Future research should explore the integration of business intelligence and analytics within different industry contexts to enhance specificity in strategy formulation. Investigating effective strategies for bridging the technical-strategic divide, developing competencies tailored to specific business environments, and examining the organizational support for continuous professional development will enrich our understanding. optimizing these educational frameworks, ensuring they adapt to the changing needs of both the market and the professionals within it. Furthermore, ethical considerations in data management, the evolving role of artificial intelligence in BA, and the impact of these technologies on organizational culture and privacy need thorough exploration to ensure responsible and effective analytics practices.

This study underscores the critical importance of business analytics workers in shaping the strategic trajectories of European startups and enterprises. By navigating the intricate interplay between technology and business strategy, these professionals not only contribute to immediate organizational success but also pave the way for sustained competitive advantage in an increasingly data-driven world.

Literature

Bhaumik, A., Yan, C.H.E., Qing, F., Fuller, W.E.I., Tingting, W.E.N., Xiaorong, Y.A.N. and Zujie, X.U. (2022) 'Impact of business analytics and intelligence on business progress', Journal of Pharmaceutical Negative Results, 13(S07), pp. 5815–5820. doi: 10.47750/pnr.2022.13.S07.705.

Božič, K. and Dimovski, V. (2019) 'Business intelligence and analytics for value creation: The role of absorptive capacity', International Journal of Information Management, 46, pp. 93–103. doi: 10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2018.11.020.

Cegielski, C.G. and Jones-Farmer, L.A. (2016) 'Knowledge, skills, and abilities for entry-level business analytics positions: A multi-method study', Decision Sciences Journal of Innovative Education, 14(1), pp. 91–118. doi: 10.1111/dsji.12086.

Chahal, H., Jyoti, J. and Wirtz, J. (2019) 'Business analytics: Concept and applications', in Understanding the role of business analytics: Some applications. pp. 1–8. doi: 10.1007/978-981-13-1334-9_1.

Duan, Y., Cao, G. and Edwards, J.S. (2020) 'Understanding the impact of business analytics on innovation', European Journal of Operational Research, 281(3), pp. 673–686. doi: 10.1016/j.ejor.2018.06.021.

Ferreira, J.J., Lopes, J.M., Gomes, S. and Rammal, H.G. (2023) 'Industry 4.0 implementation: Environmental and social sustainability in manufacturing multinational enterprises', Journal of Cleaner Production, 404, p. 136841. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2023.136841.

Hindle, G., Kunc, M., Mortensen, M., Oztekin, A. and Vidgen, R. (2020) 'Business analytics: Defining the field and identifying a research agenda', European Journal of Operational Research, 281(3), pp. 483–490. doi: 10.1016/j.ejor.2019.10.001.

Johnson, M.E., Albizri, A. and Jain, R. (2020) 'Exploratory analysis to identify concepts, skills, knowledge, and tools to educate business analytics practitioners', Decision Sciences Journal of Innovative Education, 18(1), pp. 90–118. doi: 10.1111/dsji.12195.

Kaushik, P. (2022) 'Role and application of artificial intelligence in business analytics: A critical evaluation', International Journal for Global Academic & Scientific Research, 1(3), pp. 01–09. doi: 10.55938/ijgasr.v1i3.15.

Kristoffersen, E., Mikalef, P., Blomsma, F. and Li, J. (2021) 'Towards a business analytics capability for the circular economy', Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 171, p. 120957. doi: 10.1016/j.techfore.2021.120957.

Lee, C.S., Cheang, P.Y.S. and Moslehpour, M. (2022) 'Predictive analytics in business analytics: Decision tree', ADS, 26(1), pp. 1–30. doi: 10.47654/v26y2022i1p1-30.

Liu, S., Liu, O. and Chen, J. (2023) 'A review on business analytics: Definitions, techniques, applications and challenges', Mathematics, 11(4), p. 899. doi: 10.3390/math11040899.

Ozturk, P. and Hartzel, K.S. (2020) 'Business analytics: Addressing the real skill requirements of employers', Information Systems, (in press).

Polzer, J.T. (2022) 'The rise of people analytics and the future of organizational research', Research in Organizational Behavior, 42, p. 100181. doi: 10.1016/j.riob.2023.100181.

Raghupathi, W. and Raghupathi, V. (2021) 'Contemporary business analytics: An overview', Data, 6(8), p. 86. doi: 10.3390/data6080086.

Seal, K.C., Leon, L.A., Przasnyski, Z.H. and Lontok, G. (2020) 'Delivering business analytics competencies and skills: A supply side assessment', INFORMS Journal on Applied Analytics, 50(4), pp. 239–254. doi: 10.1287/inte.2020.1043.

Silaban, D.P. (2022) 'Challenges in business analytics implementation: A comprehensive review using TOE framework', MS, 2(2), p. 131. doi: 10.19166/ms.v2i2.5953.

Srikrishnan, S. (2020) 'Business analytics – overview, curriculum, opportunities and skills', Journal of Business Analytics (in press).

Stanton, W.W. and Stanton, A.D. (2020) 'Helping business students acquire the skills needed for a career in analytics: A comprehensive industry assessment of entry-level requirements', Decision Sciences Journal of Innovative Education, 18(1), pp. 138–165. doi: 10.1111/dsji.12199.

Verma, A., Yurov, K.M., Lane, P.L. and Yurova, Y.V. (2019) 'An investigation of skill requirements for business and data analytics positions: A content analysis of job advertisements', Journal of Education for Business, 94(4), pp. 243–250. doi: 10.1080/08832323.2018.1520685.

Wolniak, R. and Grebski, W. (2023) 'The applications of usage of business analytics in Industry 4.0', SPSUTOM, 2023, pp. 329–344. doi: 10.29119/1641-3466.2023.179.38.

Yalcin, A.S., Kilic, H.S. and Delen, D. (2022) 'The use of multi-criteria decision-making methods in business analytics: A comprehensive literature review', Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 174, p. 121193. doi: 10.1016/j.techfore.2021.121193.

Yin, J. and Fernandez, V. (2020) 'A systematic review on business analytics', Journal of Industrial Engineering and Management, 13(2), pp. 283–295. doi: 10.3926/jiem.3030.